SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

NOV 1 1995

SUPREME CT CASE # 86, 43 F Deputy Clerk

4DCA CASE NO.: 94-693

PALM BEACH

L.T. CASE NO.: CL 92 12961 AJ

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

vs.

SUSAN KRAWZAK,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW Pursuant to 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi) Fla. R. App. P. (Certified Conflict)

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF THE PETITIONER GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES INSURANCE COMPANY

Submitted by:

JAMES M. MUNSEY, ESQ. Fla. Bar No. 441848

JAMES M. MUNSEY, P.A. 215 Fifth Street - #100A West Palm Beach, FL 33401 407/832-3034

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Petitioner, GEICO, hereby adopts the Statement of the Case and of the Facts as set forth in Petitioner, Lippincott's Initial Brief and Merits with the following additions.

Testimony from treating physicians, Joseph Purita, Leon Abram and Ignacio Magana, revealed that none of them were provided with any history by the plaintiff regarding previous injuries, complaints and symptoms of injuries to the areas of the body for which they were treating her (T. 620, 596, 834, 841, 842).

Dr. Michael Zeide, who performed a compulsory physical examination on behalf of the defendant, provided testimony that plaintiff indeed suffered a permanent injury, but that it was not causally related to the subject automobile accident (T. 988-990).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

During the pendency of this appeal, this Court issued the decision of <u>Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Tompkins</u>, 651 So.2d 89 (Fla. 1995), which disapproved the threshold requirement of a permanent injury before future economic damages could be awarded. At the time this matter was tried, the controlling law was set forth in <u>Josephson v. Bowers</u>, 595 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

At oral argument, appellees conceded that the matter must be returned to the trial court, but argued that, as the court ruled in Tompkins, the only issue to be tried was whether and to what extent plaintiff was entitled to recover future economic damages.

The Fourth District decision to return the matter for a trial on all issues, based on the fact that a records custodian's substantive testimony was excluded is erroneous. Jennifer Wiggs, a records custodian for plaintiff's employer, was precluded from testifying by the court in light of the fact that the records were themselves stipulated into evidence. The necessity of a records custodian to authenticate records which were already in evidence is clearly cumulative and unnecessary.

In conflict with the Fifth District Court Appeal ruling in Colford v. Braun Cadillac, Inc., 620 So.2d 780 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), the Fourth disapproved of the procedure whereby the uninsured motorist carrier is shielded from the jury's knowledge and counsel for the uninsured motorist carrier acts as co-counsel for the tortfeasor, with consent of the tortfeasor. The court while expressing its view that no basis exists in the contract between

plaintiff and her carrier for UM benefits, nonetheless ignores the efficacy of precluding a jury from being influenced by the presence of insurance. Additionally, the court, without saying so, implicitly acknowledges that the presence of the insurance will indeed affect a jury's determination of damages.

The procedures set forth in <u>Colford</u> benefit not only the uninsured motorist carrier and tortfeasor, but cause no harm to the plaintiff.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IMPROPERLY ORDERED A NEW TRIAL ON LIABILITY AND DAMAGES WHERE THE ONLY ERROR COMMITTED BY THE TRIAL COURT PERTAINED TO FUTURE ECONOMIC DAMAGES.

At the time this matter was tried, the controlling precedent regarding recovery of future medical expenses and lost wages was set forth in the case of Josephson v. Bowers, 595 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) and Fazzolari v. City of West Palm Beach, 608 So.2d 927 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), review denied, 620 So.2d 760 (Fla. 1993). Indeed, this was still controlling law at the time the initial briefs were filed by the parties. However, during the period after the briefs were filed and before oral argument, the Supreme Court handed down its decision in Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Tompkins, 651 So.2d 89 Tompkins disapproved the threshold (Fla. 1995). requirement of a permanent injury before future economic damages could be awarded. At oral argument, defendants conceded that, in light of Tompkins, the case must be returned to the trial court for the sole purpose of a trial on future economic damages, if any. Petitioner's position was that the issue of permanency had been determined and need not be disturbed. In fact, this position was consistent with the court's ruling in Tompkins.

The Fourth District Court's combining the future economic damage issue with the error in excluding the testimony of Jennifer Wiggs (which will be addressed later in this memo) in order to support a decision granting a new trial on all issues is error.

ISSUE II

THE FOURTH DISTRICT DECISION THAT THE EXCLUSION OF TESTIMONY WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION WAS ERRONEOUS WHERE THE WITNESS WAS NOT REVEALED UNTIL TRIAL, THE TESTIMONY WAS CUMULATIVE AND NOT RELEVANT TO ANY ISSUE AT TRIAL.

The trial court refused to admit the testimony of Jennifer Wiggs. Miss Wiggs was not listed on any party's witness list, rather, she was designated by plaintiff as the "records custodian" of the hospital where plaintiff was previously employed, Wellington Regional Medical Center. The proffered testimony of Ms. Wiggs indicates that she would have explained what a "per diem" employee was. As indicated by the Fourth District Court, the "personnel assistant, an independent witness," would explain plaintiff's preaccident status.

First of all, plaintiff's employment records from Wellington Regional were stipulated into evidence. A records custodian was thus unnecessary to authenticate said records. These records included information regarding how often plaintiff worked and how much she earned. Additionally, plaintiff presented testimony as to how often she worked and how much she earned. Thus, the issues of how much she worked, how much she earned and her employment status was information already in evidence. Anything to be added by Miss Wiggs was simply cumulative.

Secondly, Miss Wiggs <u>sole</u> function as the records custodian was simply to authenticate records. To allow a party to list "records custodian" on its witness list with no name, and then

bring in a witness under the guise of being a "records custodian" to provide substantive testimony outside of the authentication of records would seem to be the type of gamesmanship that courts have been criticizing and chastising lawyers about for guite some time. Unless appellate courts allow the trial judge to use its own discretion in determining whether such a "surprise" witness should be allowed to testify, the efficacy of providing any type of witness list is severely impaired. See Florida Marine Enterprises v. Bailey, 632 So.2d 649 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) and Binger v. King <u>Pest Control</u>, 401 So.2d 1310 (Fla. 1981). If Jennifer Wiggs was going to provide substantive testimony helpful to the plaintiff, shouldn't defendants be given the opportunity to know this beforehand and take discovery with regard to any relationship that may exist between a witness and a party? To force defense counsel to explore such relationship during testimony at trial in front of a jury, is simply unfair. The Fourth District Court ruling on this issue essentially rewards plaintiff's counsel for his failure to comply with the pretrial order in direct conflict with the court's previous decision of Pipkin v. Hamer 501 So. 2d 1365 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).

It should be pointed out that the Fourth District Court was in error to indicate that the record is devoid of any claim of "surprise" by the defense in objecting to Miss Wiggs' testimony. As indicated in the record (T. 754).

"Your Honor, the matter I'd like to take up, I guess, <u>is</u> somewhat of a surprise. I don't believe it was on the schedule in terms of witnesses, but Mr. Asencio plans to put on the stand now the personnel records custodian from

Wellington Regional Hospital where the plaintiff was employed before this accident." (emphasis mine)

"The records have already been stipulated into evidence, her entire personnel file is in evidence."

Jennifer Wiggs' testimony would have been that the plaintiff worked as much as the personnel records indicate. This does nothing to bolster the credibility of the plaintiff. The records speak for themselves.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PERMITTED GEICO TO WAIVE ITS RIGHT TO PARTICIPATE AT TRIAL WHERE IT WAS NOT REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL AND AGREED TO BE BOUND BY THE JUDGMENT.

Petitioner, GEICO, respectfully adopts the argument set forth by Petitioner, Lippincott, on this issue.

ISSUE IV

THE FINAL JUDGMENT SHOULD NOT BE REVERSED WHERE THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS ON THE AWARD OF MEDICAL EXPENSES WERE CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS AND COULD NOT HAVE CONFUSED THE JURY.

Given the state of the law with regard to recovery of future economic damages in the absence of permanency at the time this matter was tried, the jury instruction could not have been any clearer. The trial court stated the following:

"If the greater weight of the evidence does not support the claim of Susan Krawzak on the issue of permanency, you should award Susan Krawzak an amount of money which the greater weight of the evidence shows will fairly and adequately compensate Susan Krawzak for damages caused by the incident in question. You shall consider the following elements of damage:

Any earnings lost in the past, reasonable value or expense of medical care and treatment necessarily or reasonably obtained by plaintiff, Susan Krawzak, in the past.

However, if the greater weight of the evidence does support the claim of Susan Krawzak on the issue of permanency, then you should also consider the following elements:

The reasonable value of expense of surgery, hospitalization, medicine, therapy, rehabilitation for medical care and treatment necessarily or reasonably obtained by Susan Krawzak in the past or to be so obtained in the future."

The Fourth District Court was somewhat unsure as to whether or not the wording of this jury instruction indeed caused any confusion. It noted that the jury did not award the entire amount of past lost wages and medical bills. However, this could just as easily be attributable to the jury finding the defense argument persuasive that cost for surgery, etc., were not causally related

to the accident, but rather to a pre-existing condition. Likewise, the awarding of a portion of her lost wages representing six (6) months to a year of income immediately post-accident is consistent.

Certainly, in light of the <u>Tompkins</u> decision, the entire jury instruction regarding permanency and elements of damages will have to be redone as, regardless of whether there is a permanency, plaintiff is entitled to have a jury decide whether she should recover lost wages, loss of earning capacity, past medicals and future medicals.

CONCLUSION

The Fourth District Court of Appeal decision should be quashed and the case remanded with instructions to order a new trial as to future economic damages only. Indeed, the only error committed at the trial level, which could not have been corrected since the Tompkins decision had not been handed down, related to the question of future economic damages, which may now be recoverable by the plaintiff in the absence of a permanent injury.

Additionally, on re-trial, GEICO should be allowed to exclude itself from the trial in order to prevent prejudice to the tortfeasor.