IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

Respondent.

DEC 4 1995

vs.	Case No. 86-434
SUSAN KRAWZAK,	
Respondent.	
CANDACE LYN LIPPINCOTT,	
Petitioner,	
vs.	Case No. 86-435
SUSAN KRAWZAK,	

DISCRETIONARY PROCEEDINGS TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON MERITS

DIEGO C. ASENCIO, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar #352942 South Flagler Drive 8th Floor - West Tower West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Suite 201 (407) 820-9439

Trial Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case is before this Court on a certification by the Fourth District Court of Appeal of conflict with Colford v. Braun Cadillac, Inc., 620 So. 2d 780 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), rev. den., 626 So. 2d 1367 (Fla. 1993). The issue in conflict is whether an underinsured motorist carrier should be permitted to deceive the jury by sitting at trial as a silent party and pretending that its counsel is counsel for the defendant tortfeasor. The Fourth District correctly recognized that the statutory scheme is crystal clear and was not intended to permit an underinsured motorist carrier to enjoy the privileged status of secret party. In addition, this Court, as it did in Dosdourion v. Carsten, 624 So. 2d 241 (Fla. 1993) should prohibit such jury deception.

Although this Court may consider any issue raised and argued, it is certainly appropriate for the Court to decline to review uncertified issues. In this case there is no reason for this Court to exercise its discretion on the issues not involved in the certified conflict. Alternatively, if some ancillary issues are to be addressed, all should be addressed.

The undisputed evidence in this case establishes past medical expenses of \$36,640.54. And all of the credible and proper testimony in this case establishes that Plaintiff sustained a permanent injury as a result of the accident in question. Yet, the jury returned a verdict for less than the undisputed expenses and found no permanent injury.

This result reflects the many errors which occurred during this trial. For example, the Plaintiff was prejudiced by: the trial court's refusal to admit critical evidence; the time limits set for charge conference and closing argument; the Defendants' charge that Plaintiff had lied; and jury instructions and a verdict form which were incomplete, confusing and contradictory.

In addition, the trial court improperly permitted the underinsured motorist carrier, Defendant GEICO to deceive the jury by sitting as a silent party and representing that its counsel represented the Defendant Lippincott.

For whatever reason it occurred, the jury's verdict is inconsistent, inadequate and contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. A new trial on all issues is mandated!

ARGUMENT

Ι.

THE ACTUAL STATUS OF AN UNINSURED OR UNDERINSURED MOTORIST CARRIER WHO IS LAWFULLY SUED AND JOINED AS A PARTY DEFENDANT MUST BE DISCLOSED TO THE JURY. (Response to Defendants' Point II)

Florida Statutes §627.727(6) (1991) permits an insured to join his underinsured motorist carrier in an action against the underinsured tortfeasor. In addition, it has been held that such joinder is mandatory. [Wardrop v. Government Employment Insurance Co., 567 So. 2d 1012 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), rev. den. 581 So. 2d 168 (Fla. 1991)]

The Fifth District Court of Appeal has held that a plaintiff may be prevented from disclosing to the jury the existence of a party, i.e. the underinsured motorist carrier, and that the carrier's attorney may participate and represent to the jury that he is the tortfeasor's co-counsel. [Colford v. Braun Cadillac, Inc., 620 So. 2d 780 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), rev. den., 626 So. 2d 1367 (Fla. 1993)]

The trial court in this case strongly disagreed with the *Colford* decision, but decided that it was bound to follow this decision. [See Statement of Facts at p. 18] The Fourth District disagreed with *Colford* and has certified the conflict of decisions to this Court.

GEICO is both the liability insurer and the underinsured motorist carrier in this case. The Plaintiff, by contract as well as by statute, has a direct right of action against GEICO as her underinsured motorist carrier. In Shingleton v. Bussey, 223 So. 2d 713 (Fla. 1969) this Court held that a plaintiff, as a third-party beneficiary of the motor vehicle policy, had a direct cause of action against a liability insurer and may join the insurer as a defendant along with the insured. In addition this Court stated as follows:

"...it seems anomalous to public policy to procedurally sanction and condone a situation where the ultimate beneficiary of policy proceeds is deprived by a provision in the policy of an open, speedy and realistic opportunity to pursue his right of an adequate remedy at law jointly against the insured and insurer. Especially is the result obtained by such policy restriction incongruous where the insurer participates in the controversy, not as a joint defendant in the proceedings brought by the injured plaintiff against the insured, but, rather, as the undisclosed guardian of the interests and rights of the insured-and of counsel, of the insurer's interest also...

If a joinder is allowed initially, all the cards are on the table and all interrelated claims and defenses can be heard and adjudicated reciprocally among all parties and the plaintiff will have the same initial right as insurer now avails itself against plaintiff to protect his rights against the insurer. In this manner the interests of all the parties and the concomitant right to expeditiously litigate the same in concert are preserved."
[223 So. 2d at pp. 719-720]

The legislature overruled **Shingleton** by enacting the non-joinder statute in 1976. This statute provides that "no motor vehicle liability insurer shall be joined as a party defendant in an action to determine the insured's liability...". [§627.7262, Fla. Stat. (1991)] However, this statute does not apply to an uninsured or underinsured motorist carrier. Florida Statutes contain both the non-joinder of insurers statute, F.S. §627.7262 (1991), and F.S. §627.727(6) (1991) which permits joinder of the underinsured

motorist carrier in an action against the underinsured tortfeasor. It simply makes no sense for the legislature to have enacted \$627.727(6), as written, if it intended for the carrier to enjoy the privileged status of a secret party.

Moreover, this Court has clearly announced that public policy will not permit the deception of juries by a charade conducted by the litigants. [Dosdourian v. Carsten, 624 So. 2d 241 (Fla. 1993)] But that is precisely what happened in this case. As the Fourth District stated in the case at bar:

"An uninsured or underinsured motorist carrier should not be able to hide its true identity by being severed from the lawsuit while retaining its influence over the conduct of the lawsuit as co-counsel for the tortfeasor. In this case, this procedure seems inherently unfair to the plaintiff, deceptive to the jury, contrary to the insurance contract entered into between the plaintiff and its insurer, and contrary to statute."

[Petitioners' App. A. 19]

The Defendants' benefit/detriment analysis misses the point. The issue at bar is one of statutory construction, not a benefit/detriment analysis. Second, the detriment to Plaintiff is real, substantive and harmful. She has both a contractual and statutory right to sue her insurance carrier. Third, the matter at issue concerns underinsured motorist insurance, not liability insurance. And finally, as noted by the Fourth District, if the reasoning of the Defendant -- that its presence as an insurance company would serve no purpose other than to increase the amount of the jury verdict was accepted, all "deep pocket" defendants would have the same argument. And, of course, there is no rule of procedure or principle

of law which would justify such a result where a plaintiff has a right of direct action. [Petitioners' App. at A. 17]

It is also quite interesting as noted by the Fourth District that GEICO does not seek an absolute ban on disclosure of its identity in all such litigation. Rather, GEICO seeks the ability to use this charade at its discretion. When GEICO views the charade as operating in its favor, then it contends it should have the right to wear its mask. However, when the mask may not be helpful, i.e. in cases of aggravated liability or in cases of an unsympathetic tortfeasor, then GEICO wants the right to remove the mask. [Petitioners' App. at p. A-17]

In addition, Defendant Lippincott's claim of detriment is highly suspect. It is believed that Defendant Lippincott and Defendant GEICO have entered into an agreement for Lippincott to stay in the suit, but GEICO to assume all liability for any judgment. Interestingly, all attempts to uncover this agreement and for the trial court to conduct an *in camera* inspection were vigorously contested by Defendants and denied by the trial court. [TT. 828, 859-865, 1042] This Court should put an end to the game playing.

Dosdourian stands for the proposition that public policy will not permit juries to be deceived by litigants. Yet, that is precisely what Defendants were allowed to do. Defendant GEICO is a party to this action and had a contractual relationship with the Plaintiff. Plaintiff was entitled to join Defendant GEICO and was entitled for the jury to be informed of all parties and their interest in this case. Prejudice is inherent because of the violation of the substantive rights of Plaintiff.

In the event this Court elects to consider the certified conflict between this case and *Colford*, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court adopt the decision of the Fourth District in the case at bar.

THERE IS NO REASON FOR THIS COURT TO EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION TO PROVIDE A SECOND REVIEW TO DEFENDANTS ON THE ISSUES NOT INVOLVED IN THE CERTIFIED CONFLICT.

(Partial Response to Defendants' Points I, III & IV)

It is beyond dispute that this Court may consider any issue raised and argued, dispute the fact that such issues are not involved in the certified question or conflict. [Savoie v. State, 422 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 1982); Tillman v. State, 471 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1985)] However, it is also quite appropriate for this Court to decline to review uncertified issues. For example, as this Court stated in Berezovsky v. State, 350 So. 2d 80, 81 (Fla. 1977):

"The District Court has reviewed the sufficiency of the evidence in this case and found that the jury's verdict is supported by the record. Having resolved the conflict of decisions which brought the case to us, we see no reason to provide a full second review of the evidence."

And, also as this Court stated in *Trushin v. State*, 425 So. 2d 1126, 1130 (Fla. 1982):

"While we have the authority to entertain issues ancillary to those in a certified case, **Bell v. State**, 394 So. 2d 979 (Fla. 1981), we recognize the function of district courts as courts of final jurisdiction and will refrain from using that authority unless those issues affect the outcome of the petition after review of the certified case."

There is no reason to accord the Defendants a second review of the issues ancillary to the issue involved in the certified conflict of cases. Accordingly, any consideration by this Court should be confined to the *Colford/Krawzak* conflict.

THE FOURTH DISTRICT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING THE TESTIMONY OF A WITNESS WHO COULD HAVE HELPED TO BOLSTER THE CREDIBILITY OF PLAINTIFF'S TESTIMONY.

(Partial Response to Defendants' Points I & III)

Plaintiff is entitled to present evidence on the facts that are relevant to his theory of the case. Evidence which assists in making known the truth upon an issue in question should be admitted.

[Donahue v. Albertson's, Inc., 472 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985)] As the Fourth District stated in Donahue:

"... if evidence is relevant and has some degree of probative value however small, it is admissible, and its weight is for the jury."

The credibility of Plaintiff was particularly critical in this case regarding the onset of her symptoms and the permanency of her injuries. The defense strenuously attacked the credibility of Plaintiff by using a mistake the Plaintiff made in deposition regarding her income in an effort to label Plaintiff a liar. [See Statement of Facts at pp. 18-22]

Jennifer Wiggs, is a personal assistant at Wellington Hospital, the employer of Plaintiff. The testimony of Ms. Wiggs was offered to support the Plaintiff's testimony regarding her status at Wellington, i.e. that per diem employees were not restricted to one day of work a week, but could work full time. [TT. 418-421, 477-480, 823-827]

The testimony of Jennifer Wiggs was important with respect to Plaintiff's credibility. It was extremely relevant and certainly not cumulative. Indeed, it supported the Plaintiff's testimony that her status at Wellington was "full time per diem" and that she was not restricted to working one day a week. [TT. 418-421, 477-480, 823-827] Thus, the Fourth District found that:

"The probative value of this relevant testimony substantially outweighs any cumulative effect of the evidence. Id., see LoBue v. Travelers Ins. Co., 388 So. 2d 1349 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); rev. den. sub non. Burns v. Stafford-LoBue, 397 So. 2d 777 (Fla. 1981). That exclusion was not harmless, considering that plaintiff's credibility as to her prior health and work ability was significantly questioned by the defense."
[Petitioners' App. at A-14]

Defendants now claim surprise before this Court as the main reason for the exclusion of this testimony. However, it is interesting to note that in their briefs to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, neither Defendant raised this objection regarding the testimony of Ms. Wiggs. [Respondent's Appendix] Although the word "surprise" was used by defense counsel at trial, it is abundantly clear from the twenty four pages of the transcript devoted to the objections and argument regarding the admission of Ms. Wiggs' testimony that the only objection argued by Defendants' counsel was relevancy. [TT. 754-768] Indeed, after the proffer of Ms. Wiggs' testimony defense counsel stated as follows:

"Mr. Supran: I have no inquiries at this time. Note my objection made earlier as to the relevancy to the areas of inquiry other than the admission into evidence of the thirteen week wage and salary verification. And I will just adopt my earlier objections."
[TT. 827]

THE FOURTH DISTRICT PROPERLY FOUND THAT JURY INSTRUCTIONS ON MEDICAL EXPENSES WERE CONFUSING AND IMPROPER.

(Partial Response to Points I & IV)

The jury was instructed as follows on damages:

If the greater weight of the evidence does not support the claim of Susan Krawzak on the issue of permanency, you should award to Susan Krawzak an amount of money which the greater weight of the evidence shows will fairly and adequately compensate Susan Krawzak for damages caused by the incidents in question. consider the following elements of damage: any earning loss in the past. The reasonable value or expense of medical care and treatment necessarily reasonably obtained by Plaintiff, Susan Krawzak, in the past.

However, if the greater weight of the evidence does support the claim of Susan Krawzak on the issue of permanency, then you should also consider the following The reasonable value elements: or expense hospitalization, surgery, medicine. therapy, rehabilitation and medical treatment care and reasonably obtained necessarily or b y Krawzak in the past or to be so obtained in the future.

[Petitioner's Appendix A. 14-15]

This instruction was clearly confusing because the jury could have believed that only if they found a permanent injury could they award items such as the past expenses of surgery, hospitalization, medicine, therapy and rehabilitation. Instructions which are contradictory and confusing constitute reversible error. [See eg. *Poole v. Lowell Dunn Co.*, 573 So. 2d 51 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990)]

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL AND ADDITUR.

(New Point raised by Plaintiff below)

In the event this Court elects to consider ancillary issues to the certified conflict, consideration should also be given to the other issues raised by Plaintiff on appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

Plaintiff requested a new trial and additur on a number of grounds. For example, the trial court improperly limited the time permitted for charge conference and closing argument; opposing counsel made improper arguments; and the verdict is inconsistent, inadequate and contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. Due to these errors and all the other errors noted in this brief, the trial court abused its discretion in denying Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial and Additur.

A. It was improper for the trial court to limit the time permitted for charge conference and closing argument.

As the Fourth District stated in Woodham v. Roy, 471 So. 2d 132, 134 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985):

"The fact that this is a civil proceeding does not mean that justice can be administered arbitrarily with a stopwatch. On the contrary, the rule of informed discretion announced in May v. State, supra, applies with equal force... In establishing the appropriate time

limitation for closing argument, the court should consider the following factors: length of trial, number of witnesses, amount of evidence, importance of the case, number and complexity of issues, amount involved and press of time. In all events, the time must be reasonable and should permit counsel an adequate opportunity to relate the factual argument to the governing principles of law."

[See also Bell v. Harland Rayvals Transport, Ltd., 501 So. 2d 1321 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); Knapp v. Shores, 550 So. 2d 1155 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989)]

And, in addition, as stated by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Strong v. Mt. Dora Growers Co-Op., 495 So. 2d 1238, 1240 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986):

"It is clearly an abuse of discretion for a court to make the length of closing argument contingent upon whether a charge conference is required. A party has a clear right to be heard on proposed charges. He is not required or expected to waive this right in order to obtain adequate time to present his closing arguments."

Yet, those rules were clearly violated in this case. The trial court judge ran a stop watch from the beginning of these proceedings to their conclusion and threatened mistrial if his schedule was not met. The judge forced the parties to choose between a charge conference and closing argument. [See Statement of Facts at pp. 23-24] These acts were error and demand reversal.

B. It was fundamental error for the Defendants to call Plaintiff a liar in closing argument.

Initially, it should be noted that Defendants do not use the word "liar" but their presentation left the jury with no doubt as to their meaning. In a deliberate attempt to manipulate these proceedings, Defendants made it appear that Plaintiff had lied

regarding her income when no such occurrence had taken place.

Then the Defendants made a production of this matter in closing argument. [See Statement of Facts at pp. 18-22]

It is clearly improper for an attorney to suggest to a jury that a witness was committing perjury. [Hernandez v. State, 22 So. 2d 781 (Fla. 1945); Venning v. Rae, 616 So. 2d 604 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993); Kaas v. Atlas Chemical Co., 616 So. 2d 604 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993); George v. Mann, 622 So. 2d 151 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993)] In addition, the impropriety does not rise or fall upon use of the term "liar", the implication is improper. [George, 622 So. 2d at p. 152]

C. The jury's verdict is inconsistent, inadequate and contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence.

The undisputed evidence in this case establishes past medical expenses of \$36,640.54. In addition, all of the credible and proper testimony in this case establishes that Plaintiff sustained a permanent injury as a result of the May, 1991 accident. [See Statement of Facts at pp. 5-16] Yet, the jury returned a verdict of no permanent injury, net medical expenses of \$10,000 (\$20,000 - \$10,000 collateral source set-off) and loss wages of \$9,600. [See Statement of Case at p. 1]

A jury verdict is inadequate as a matter of law where negligence is not an issue and the award returned is less than the plaintiff's undisputed medical expenses. [Grier v. Reed, 426 So. 2d 1132 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); Olds v. Stephenson, 463 So. 2d 1241

(Fla. 2d DCA 1985); Borges v. Jacobs, 483 So. 2d 773 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986)] Yet, that is precisely what happened in this case.

In addition, the verdict is inconsistent. In awarding the amount it did for medical expenses, the jury had to have included some of the cost of Plaintiff's surgery. [See Statement of Facts at pp. 17] And even Defendant's medical expert testified that the surgery would cause a permanent injury. [See Statement of Facts at p. 16] Thus, the amount awarded for medical expenses is inconsistent with the finding of no permanent injury. Inconsistent verdicts require a new trial. [See e.g. *Butte v. Hughes*, 521 So. 2d 280 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988)]

And finally, all of the credible and proper testimony in this case establishes that Plaintiff sustained a permanent injury as a result of the May, 1991 accident. [See Statement of Facts at pp. 5-16] The Defendant's medical expert, Dr. Zeide, admitted, pursuant to he appropriate standard of medical probability, that Plaintiff sustained a permanent injury as a result of the May, 1991 accident.

- "Q: Now, Doctor, did Mrs. Krawzak suffer a permanent injury as a result of the automobile accident of May 8, 1991?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Is that within a reasonable degree of medical certainty?
- A: Yes.
- Q: You agree that she suffered a permanent injury in this automobile accident, don't you?
- A: Based on the history, yes."

[TT. 951]

Defendant did attempt to rehabilitate Dr. Zeide's testimony. And Dr. Zeide did state that he didn't think that the Plaintiff had a permanent injury as a result of the May 8, 1991 accident. [TT. 988-However, this opinion was not expressed as being within the 9901 appropriate standard of medical probability and this blatant contradiction was never explained. [TT. 988-990] In addition, Dr. Zeide admitted that it was medically probable that Plaintiff's prior accident did not cause any permanent injury. [TT. 931-933] Zeide also testified that he believed that Plaintiff's problems were caused by osteophytes pressing on the nerve root. [TT. 898] then he admits that he cannot say within a reasonable degree of medical probability that Plaintiff's symptoms came from osteophytes. [TT. 973] In short, Dr. Zeide's testimony cannot serve as the basis for the jury finding of no permanent injury.

The Defendants also points to the testimony of Dr. Douglas Gula as a basis for the jury verdict. Dr. Gula treated the Plaintiff prior to the May, 1991 accident. The Defendants are mistaken in their reliance upon the testimony of Dr. Gula as a basis for the jury verdict. Although Dr. Gula testified of similarities in the Plaintiff's medical complaints before and after the May, 1991 accident, he also testified that her problems before the May, 1991 accident were muscular in nature, not disc related, that she did not need an MRI, and that on May 6, 1991 she had achieved maximum medical improvement and she was released for full duty. [R. 159-190] Dr. Gula's testimony does not provide a basis for the jury verdict.

The opinions of Plaintiff's treating physicians were based on full knowledge of Plaintiff's history. [TT. 542, 567] All three physicians explicitly testified that the prior accidents did not cause Plaintiff permanent injury. [TT. 536-540, 784-788, 800-802] Rather, Plaintiff was permanently injured as a result of the May 8, 1991 accident and no other. [TT. 567-568, 800] The verdict was contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence and the trial court erred in failing to grant a new trial. [Scarfone v. Magaldi, 522 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); Jarrell v. Churm, 611 So. 2d 69 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); Altilio v. Gemperline, 637 So. 2d 299 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)]

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, Plaintiff respectfully requests this Honorable Court to adopt the decision of the Fourth District in the case at bar and remand for a new trial on all issues.